IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. The petitioner is Stacia Hartleben. 

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. Stacia Hartleben 

seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion, Stacia 

Hartleben v. University ofWashington, No. 73758-9-1 (July 5, 2016) 

(Appendix (App.) A), which affirmed the King County Superior Court's 

June 26,2015 Order granting University ofWashington's Motion for 

Summary Judgment. (App. B) On July 25,2016, the Court of Appeals 

issued an order denying the Motion for Reconsideration. (App. C).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is summary judgment appropriate when there is evidence the 

University offered a student a disability accommodation but then cut off 

further discussion despite evidence the accommodation was not effective? 

2. Should a jury be able to decide there has not been comparable 

service provided to a university student who because of her retrograde 

amnesia, will be required to pay twice for classes to complete her degree? 

3. Should a jury be able to decide whether a disability accommodation 

that includes a waiver of tuition is reasonable? 

4. Does the Supreme Court's decision in Fell v. Spokane Transit 

Authority state that the test for whether a disability accommodation must 

be provided for comparable service is whether the disability 

accommodation has been provided to people without disabilities? 

5. Are "special circumstances" required to establish the 

reasonableness of a disability accommodation under WLAD? 
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6. Does a disability accommodation that allows a student to 

participate again in certain core classes without college credit or a grade 

and without paying additional tuition, in order to allow her to take 

advanced classes and complete her degree program, fundamentally alter 

the way the University of Washington (the University) operates? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

From the fall, 2008 until November, 2011, Ms. Hartleben attended 

classes in the University's Computational Linguistics Master's Program 

(Program) on a part time basis. CP 155, 166; 270:5-12, 271:5-25, 272:1-16, 

274:20-23,275:1-3,278:15-21,490:20-25,491:1-7,499:5-25,500:1-9. Ms. 

Hartleben worked towards her degree, completing five courses in the 

Program, despite her struggle with depression and anxiety. CP 155 ~5, 166, 

501:11-22,553:7-11. 

After undergoing ECT therapy in December, 2011 to treat her 

depression, Ms. Hartleben discovered she suffered from a side effect, 

retrograde amnesia or memory loss. CP 155 ~3, 351-352,491:15-25,492:1-

14,493:16-25,494:1-4, 11-496:23,497:2-24, 506:24-25, 507:1-5. 508:14-

25, 509:1-17, 537:1-9 She does not remember the content ofthe classes she 

completed before the ECT therapy. CP 155 ~3, 498:2-15. Ms. Hartleben 

described the impact of her memory loss or retrograde amnesia in emails to 

Dr. Emily Bender, Director ofthe Program: "This situation is "very" 

sensitive for me. I lost all my job skills, most of the past 4 years ... are a 

complete blank. I didn't remember my former coworkers, and I barely 

remembered the person I lived with. I haven't been able to work due to this". 
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CP66 

Four of the courses Ms. Hartle ben had completed previously are 

required; the other course builds on one ofthe required courses. CP 272:18-

25, 273:1-21. Without the knowledge from those courses that is now erased 

from her memory, she has no choice but to participate again in, or in some 

way relearn the content of, those classes. CP 155 ~~3-5. Otherwise, as she 

expressed to Dr. Bender, she doubts that she can complete her degree, to wit: 

"I also have lost my work skills and have been struggling to support myself 

in the meantime, so paying for tuition would not be an option for me. " CP 

62, 64. 

At the suggestion of Dr. Bender, Ms. Hartle ben sought an 

accommodation from the University's Office of Disability Resources for 

Students (DRS) that would allow her to relearn the material from the five 

classes without having to pay twice. CP 156~6, 157~11, 510:10-19, 511:6-

11,20-512:13, 516:6-13. Ms. Hartleben had already paid the tuition for these 

classes and completed them; she had previously received a grade and college 

credit for the classes. She did not want college credit or a different grade. Id. 

She suggested that she participate fully in the classes and obtain feedback by 

doing homework assignments and taking tests. Id. As Ms. Hartleben 

describes, "I explained the severe disadvantage I would have in the program 

and compared to other students if I did not retake the classes. " ld. 

Dr. Bender said for the Program there would be no additional work 

other than from having one more student in these classes. CP 285:13-16, 19-

25; 286:1-7. 
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Ms. Hartleben also wrote Dean Rebecca Aanerud at the Graduate 

School about her request for an accommodation for memory loss. The dean 

responded, "whatever the[ DRS}. .. determine[s} to be reasonable 

accommodation is what the department will do. " CP 156~8, 168-170. 

Dean Aaenerud wrote Bree Callahan, Director of DRS, "Ifyou decide 

that this is a reasonable accommodation, we are able to make this work. CP 

357. 

Callahan said she was not concerned about whether others would also 

request to retake classes at no additional cost. CP 304:20-25, 305:1-9, 11. 

She further stated they had no concern that Ms. Hartleben's request would 

be unfair to other students. CP 305:19-306:2, 7-8. Callahan agreed that an 

accommodation could be reasonable even if it has not been implemented 

previously. CP 303:10-16. Callahan did not rule out that a request to retake 

classes without paying additional tuition could be a reasonable 

accommodation. CP 299:22-25, 300:1-2, 4-6. 

DRS met with Ms. Hartleben twice, not "several times" as stated in the 

Court of Appeals Opinion. App. A 16; CP 157, 159 In the first meeting 

DRS basically sent Ms. Hartleben away to the Graduate School, dismissing 

her request as one for "free classes" or "compensation". CP 156-158~~7-11, 

521:16-22, 522:3-12. DRS never actually considered or proposed at any time 

alternatives to Ms. Hartleben's proposal. CP 325:9-13, 16-25; 326:1-2,4-12. 

DRS never talked with Dr. Bender or obtained any information about the 

Program, how classes were taught, or ways Ms. Hartleben might relearn the 

material ofthese classes. CP 258:3-20, 307:21-24, 308:14-25, 309:1-11, 14-
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19,325:2-8,361. DRS did not discuss with Ms. Hartleben the impact ofher 

memory loss on her ability to participate in classes going forward and 

complete her degree. CP 159-160,322:23-25,323:1-10, 16-25; 324:1-7, lO

ll, 525:4-7. DRS did not discuss whether the memory loss would put her at 

a disadvantage compared to students without this disability or how her 

memory loss impacted her ability to work and support herself. Id. 

The evidence is contrary to the statement in the Opinion that Ms. 

Hartleben "would only accept an accommodations allowing her to take 

classes she needed without paying tuition". App. A 16. The evidence is that 

she was willing to consider other alternatives. She simply could not think of 

any other options; the University dismissed her request. CP159-160~~13-14. 

Callahan has acknowledged Ms. Hartleben's request to participate 

again in these classes without paying additional tuition presented no 

hardship to the University. CP 301:19-302:1-3,6-8, 12. 

After DRS rejected her request, Ms. Hartleben filed a complaint with 

UCIRO, an office within the University's Office of Risk Management. CP 

160-161~16, 180-182, 535:24-536:8. 

The investigator met with Ms. Hartleben in order to tell her that she 

did not think the University had done anything wrong. CP 534:17-25, 535:1-

12. At the end of the meeting Ms. Hartle ben stood to leave, and the 

investigator said, "Oh, wait, wait, wait. I have these classes here I guess you 

could review the recordings of" CP 535:13-18. She related this was Dr. 

Bender's idea that Ms. Hartleben could listen to recordings of the classes she 

needed to relearn. CP 541:7-20,542:1-5 Ms. Hartleben explained to the 
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investigator that she could not learn from recordings because of her focus 

and cognitive issues. CP 161 ~18; 535:13-18. Ms. Hartleben said, "[I]t 

wasn't offered as an option. It was offered as a 'take it or leave it'." CP 

513:17-19, 24-25; 514:1-12,535:13-23. The investigator "tossed' some 

papers at her with information from Dr. Bender about the recordings. CP 555 

The investigator told her this is all the University would offer and there 

would be no more discussion. CP 535:13-23 Ms. Hartleben later went to the 

link provided for a recording but saw "it wasn 't going to wor/C' for her as 

she has difficulty learning unless she is participating in a group setting. CP 

161~18, 366-368,517:1-17. 

Ms. Hartleben wrote Dr. Bender to thank her for suggesting the 

recordings and explained why in order to learn, she, in particular, needed 

interaction. CP 161~ 19, 184 541:7-20,542:1-5,555. No one followed up to 

determine if or how interaction and also feedback might be included to make 

listening to recordings an effective accommodation for Ms. Hartleben. CP 

161,267:5-20, 287:6-15, 326:14-23. 

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the University on 

Ms. Hartleben's claims she was denied reasonable accommodations and that 

the University failed to engage in good faith in the interactive process to 

determine reasonable accommodations. App. B. In its July 5, 2016 Opinion, 

the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the trial court. App. A. The 

Motion for Reconsideration then filed by Ms. Hartleben was denied on July 

25, 2016. App. C. Ms. Hartleben now respectfully petitions this Court to 

review the Court of Appeals' opinion. 
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• 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Grant Of Summary Judgment Conflicts With Well 
Established Law That In Considering Summary Judgment The 
Evidence Must Be Construed In The Light Most Favorable To The 
Nonmoving Party And Summary Judgment Is Not Appropriate 
Where There Are Genuine Issues Of Material Fact. 

A. The grant of summary judgment conflicts with the opinion 
in Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No.1, which required that that the 
interactive process should continue and even include trial and error 
until, absent evidence of undue hardship, all efforts to find an 
effective reasonable accommodation have been exhausted. 

It has long been the law that in considering a motion for summary 

judgment, a court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the nonmoving party. Fell v. Spokane Transit Authority, 128 Wn.2d 

618, 625; 911 P.2d 1319, 1322 (1996). Summary judgment is improper if 

there is any genuine issue of material fact. /d. See CR 56( c). Summary 

judgment "should be granted only if, from all the evidence, reasonable 

persons could reach but one conclusion." Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 

434, 437; 656 P.2d 1010 (1982). 

The Court of Appeals, however, upheld a grant of summary judgment 

in this case despite the evidence when construed in Ms. Hartle ben's favor is 

undisputed that after offering the possibility she could listen to the 

recordings of classes, the University cut off all discussion about disability 

accommodations. The offer was presented as an afterthought, a "take it or 

leave it" option, at the end of the meeting Ms. Hartle ben had with the 

UCIRO investigator months after the University denied her request for a 

disability accommodation. CP 160-161~16, 180-182,513:17-19, 24-25; 
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T 

514:1-12,535:13-23, 541:7-20,542:1-5,555 Ms. Hartleben explained to the 

investigator that she could not learn from recordings because of her focus 

and cognitive issues. CP 161 ~18; 535:13-18. The investigator told her this is 

all the University would offer and there would be no more discussion. CP 

535:13-23 Despite this, Ms. Hartleben later went to the link provided for a 

recording but saw "it wasn't going to wor!C' for her. CP 161 ~18, 366-368, 

51 7: 1-1 7. She also wrote to Dr. Bender to thank her for suggesting the 

recordings and explained why in order to learn, she, in particular, needed 

interaction. CP 161~ 19, 184 541:7-20,542:1-5,555. No one followed up to 

determine if or how interaction and also feedback might be included to make 

listening to recordings an effective accommodation for Ms. Hartleben. CP 

161,267:5-20,287:6-15,326:14-23. 1 

There was also evidence in the record that Ms. Hartleben was more 

than willing to consider alternatives to her initial proposal that she 

participate again in the classes without credit or a grade. CP 159-160 

~~13-14. 

Despite this, the Court of Appeals accepted as true the University's 

claim that she "would only accept an accommodation allowing her to take 

classes she needed without paying tuition". App. A 6. The Court of 

Appeals basically found as a matter of law the University had done 

enough in tossing the information about the recordings at Ms. Hartleben 

1 
There was substantial evidence in the record that, indeed, Ms. Hartleben could not 

learn effectively simply from listening to recording. CP 279:5-25,280:2-13, 366-368. 
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and cutting off further discussion that would have been necessary to 

determine an effective reasonable accommodation. 

In its Opinion the Court of Appeals generally refers to other 

"accommodations" said to have been offered to Ms. Hartleben. App. A 9, 

16. But these so-called "accommodations" were either not 

accommodations or were unrelated to her disability. CP 155,159-160~13, 

166,266:3-15,270:5-12,271:5-25,272:1-16,278:15-21,274:20-23,275: 

1-3,490:20-25,491:1-7,499:5-25, 500:1-9 

The Court in Frisina v. Seattle Sch. Dist. Nna. 1, 160 Wn. App. 

765, 780-782; 249 P .3d 1044, I 051-1052 (20 11) rev. denied 172 Wn.2d 

1013,259 P.3d 1109 (2011) held, "Generally, the best way ... to determine 

a reasonable accommodation is through a flexible, interactive 

process .... A reasonable accommodation envisions an exchange ... where 

each party seeks and shares information to achieve the best match .... A 

good faith exchange of information between parties is required." In fact, 

"trial and error" may be required to provide an effective reasonable 

accommodation. Frisina, supra, 160 Wn. App. at 780-782; 249 P.3d at 

1051-1052. 

In Frisina a teacher with a respiratory illness that left her sensitive 

to airborne toxins, dust, mold, and the like, observed mold in her new 

classroom. The School District did undertake remediation efforts to 

remove all visible mold. There was evidence despite the remediation 

efforts, Frisino still may have had some symptoms. In view of medical 

evidence that Frisino had developed multiple chemical sensitivity 
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syndrome, she requested as a disability accommodation a move to another 

building with a window, good ventilation, "no perfumes, gas, etc. and not 

extreme temperature changes"; she sought the move until the initial 

building was completely remediated. The District's response then was 

that enough had been done to accommodate Frisino. 

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the District. 

The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that there was an inference that 

the District knew the remediation was not effective and Frisino claimed to 

need a different environment. The Court of Appeals determined a jury 

could find that the District had failed to provide a reasonable 

accommodation. The Court of Appeals in that case emphasized the 

importance of finding an effective accommodation. The Court stated, 

"[T[he duty to accommodate is continuing. The employer may wish to 

test one mode of accommodation and then test another, if the first mode 

fails. Or, if the attempt to accommodate is not effective, one or more 

additional attempts may be undertaken." !d. 160 Wn. App. at 780-781; 

249 P.3d at 1051. The Frisina Court continued, "No objective measure 

had been agreed to or recognized in the course of the interactive process 

between the parties that would permit the District to determine that the 

cleanup effort had reached a level at which Frisino would be free from 

substantially limiting symptoms. Without such a standard, trial and error 

was appropriate and necessary .... An employer may choose to make only 

one attempt at accommodation, but it risks statutory liability if that 
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attempt is not effective and it cannot show that additional efforts are an 

undue burden. !d. 160 Wn. App. at 782; 249 P.3d at 1051-1052. 

The holding of Frisina is clear that summary judgment is not 

appropriate to dismiss a reasonable accommodation claim if absent 

evidence of undue hardship, a defendant refused to continue efforts to 

find an effective reasonable accommodation. It is not enough under 

Frisina for a defendant to draw the line and claim to have done enough if 

the accommodations offered or even undertaken are not effective. 

In contrast, in this case, the Court of Appeals found as a matter of 

law that the University could cut off discussion after offering the 

recordings despite evidence the University knew the accommodation may 

not be effective. There was no issue of hardship or undue burden. There 

was also no "trial and error", not even an "exchange ... where each party 

seeks and shares information to achieve the best match". !d. 160 Wn. 

App. at 780-782; 249 P.3d at 1051-1052. The Court of Appeals in this 

case has said that there is no requirement for a defendant to continue the 

interactive process to find an effective reasonable accommodation. This 

ruling is at odds with Frisina and the law relating to reasonable 

accommodations under WLAD. 

Had the discussions continued, the parties may well have reached 

an agreement on use of the recordings but with some means for 

interaction and feedback. Instead, the University offered a half measure, 

recordings that it knew would not be effective. And the University then 

cut off all further discussion. There was no "trial and error". See Frisina 

PETITION FOR REVIEW II 



v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, supra, 160 Wn. App. at 780-782. It should be 

for the jury to decide whether the University failed to engage as required 

in the interactive process when it cut off all discussion about possible 

accommodations after offering the recordings. 

B. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with law that 
reasonable disability accommodations must include waivers of 
policies that represent barriers to people without disabilities as well. 

In US. Airways v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 391 (2002) the Court 

reminded that "preferences will sometimes prove necessary to achieve the 

[disability] Act's basic equal opportunity goal .... By definition any special 

'accommodation' requires the employer to treat an employee with a 

disability differently, i.e., preferentially. And the fact that the difference 

in treatment violates an employer's disability-neutral rule cannot by itself 

place the accommodation beyond the Act's potential reach". See also 

Giebeler v. M&B Associates, 343 F.3d 1143, 1147, 1154 (9th Cir. 2003). 

WLAD requires places of public accommodation like the University to 

provide reasonable accommodations to allow students with disabilities 

"full enjoyment" of their degree programs, and this may mean making 

exceptions to policies or practices that otherwise apply to all students. 

RCW 49.60.030(1)(b); .040(2); WAC 162-26-080, -120. See Vinson v. 

Thomas, 288 F.3d 1145, 1154 (9th Cir. 2002). 

Yet, the Court of Appeals upheld the grant of summary judgment 

on the University's claim that all students must pay tuition and thus she 

was treated no differently than students without disabilities. But under 
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WLAD the inquiry cannot end there. WLAD requires the University to go 

further and determine if exceptions should be made to its policies in order 

to give Ms. Hartleben comparable access to her Program. 

The University overstated Ms. Hartleben's proposed 

accommodation. She was not in the same position as students retaking a 

class for college credit and a grade. She simply wanted to participate 

again in core classes to relearn the material. If she is forced to pay tuition 

again, these courses will cost her twice as much as they do students 

without her disability. It is because of her disability that she will be 

forced to pay the additional tuition. 

It is an obvious accommodation for this particular disability to 

allow Ms. Hartleben to relearn the material again at no additional cost to 

her. There is no hardship to the University. CP 301:19-302:1-3,6-8, 12. 

There is evidence the proposal was reasonable and could have been 

implemented. See p. 4, supra. Her proposal should not be dismissed 

simply because it means a change in a policy applicable to all students. 

The Court of Appeals stated the "University's waiver of tuition 

... would only address barriers [Ms. Hartle ben] faces due to financial 

hardship and not those due to her disability". App. A 15. The Court found 

that unlike in Giebeler v. M&B Associates, 343 F.3d 1143, 1147, 1154 

(91
h Cir. 2003), Ms. Hartleben did not show "a connection between her

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