RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CLERK'S OFFICE

Sep 21, 2016, 3:21 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93620.0

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 73758-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STACIA HARTLEBEN,
an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RIDDELL WILLIAMS PS

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Skylar A. Sherwood
WSBA No. 31896
Kristina Markosova
WSBA No. 47924

By: Howard M. Goodfriend
WSBA No. 14355
Ian C. Cairns
WSBA No. 43210

1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4500
Seattle, WA 98154
(206) 624-3600

1619 8th Avenue North
Seattle, WA 98109
(206) 624-0974

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

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

- 1. The Court of Appeals correctly held the University treated Hartleben comparably to students without a disability and that her request to enroll in classes without paying tuition was not a reasonable accommodation.**

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the WLAD did not require the University to grant Hartleben a waiver of the "uniform rates" charged to both the disabled and non-disabled alike. Its holding that a tuition waiver is not a reasonable accommodation does not conflict with any decision of this Court, the Court of Appeals, or for that matter, any decision of any court in any other jurisdiction.

The WLAD protects "[t]he right to the full enjoyment of any of the accommodations, advantages, facilities, or privileges of any place of public resort, accommodation, assemblage, or amusement."

RCW 49.60.030(1)(b). The WLAD requires places of public accommodation to provide the disabled the same services or, if that is not possible, “comparable services” through “reasonable accommodations.” *Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 128 Wn.2d 618, 627-28, 635-36, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996); *see also* WAC 162-26-060(1) (“The purposes of the law against discrimination are best achieved when disabled persons are treated the same as if they were not disabled.”); WAC 162-26-080. To establish discrimination the plaintiff must prove that the defendant did not treat the plaintiff comparably to non-disabled individuals. *Fell*, 128 Wn.2d at 637.

The WLAD protects “the right to *purchase* any service,” RCW 49.60.040(14) (emphasis added), and expressly allows places of public accommodation to charge the disabled the “*uniform rates charged other persons.*” RCW 49.60.215(1) (emphasis added). Thus, by its plain terms, the WLAD recognizes that a place of public accommodation treats the disabled and non-disabled comparably by charging both “uniform rates” for its services.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the University offered Hartleben multiple accommodations that afforded her treatment comparable to students without her disability based on substantial and undisputed evidence. (Op. ¶¶ 18-26)

The University repeatedly granted Hartleben's requests for hardship withdrawals (refunding her tuition) and welcomed her back afterwards. (CP 52, 57, 82-83, 105, 161) The University offered to accommodate any lingering symptoms of Hartleben's memory loss should she re-enroll,² granted her extra time to complete her degree program, reduced the normal course load, and allowed her to retake or audit classes as she deemed necessary. (CP 46, 48, 52, 55, 160, 406) *See also* 34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a) (suggesting as reasonable accommodation "changes in the length of time permitted for the completion of degree requirements"). It also offered her, free of charge, recordings of the classes she had forgotten. (CP 33-34, 513-14) While the evidence must be construed in Hartleben's favor on summary judgment, this Court cannot – as Hartleben does – simply ignore undisputed facts. RAP 9.12; *see Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) ("An appellate court would not be properly accomplishing its

² Undisputed documentary evidence refutes Hartleben's allegation that the University "did not discuss with [her] the impact of her memory loss on her ability to participate in classes going forward." (Pet. 5) In fact, the University told Hartleben it would "work with you to provide any disability accommodations that are relevant to the current impact of your disability." (CP 55) The parties never crossed that bridge because Hartleben refused all accommodations short of a tuition waiver.

charge if the appellate court did not examine *all* the evidence presented to the trial court”) (emphasis in original).

Hartleben dismisses the steps the University took to address her amnesia by asserting that they “were either not accommodations or were unrelated to her disability.” (Pet. 9) Hartleben likewise brushes off the recordings offered by the University as a mere “afterthought,” (Pet. 7) and ignores the undisputed fact that the University did not “follow up” on this accommodation (Pet. 8) only because Hartleben rejected it immediately. (CP 33-34, 514)

The WLAD expressly allows the University to charge Hartleben the same fee for its services that it charges the non-disabled. RCW 49.60.215(1). The University did not attempt to make Hartleben “pay twice” to enroll in a single class, as she asserts (Pet. 3), but simply sought to charge her each time she enrolled, as it does for everyone, even where the need to re-take a class is prompted by medical or emergency reasons. (CP 53, 55)

Hartleben now contends she was “willing to consider” other accommodations (Pet. 5), but she undisputedly rejected every accommodation offered by the University while at the same time failing to suggest any others. (CP 514 (“none of the options that the

university suggested were appropriate”)) Thus, Hartleben – not the University – “cut off” discussion and failed to engage in an “interactive process.” (Pet. 7-12) The University had no obligation to continue attempting to accommodate Hartleben after she made clear she would reject all accommodations other than one not required by the plain terms of the WLAD. *See Doe v. Boeing Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 8, 20, 846 P.2d 531 (1993) (“The Act does not require an employer to offer the employee the precise accommodation he or she requests.”); *Allen v. Pacific Bell*, 348 F.3d 1113, 1115-16 (9th Cir. 2003) (affirming dismissal of failure to accommodate claim because plaintiff refused to engage in interactive process).³

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 160 Wn. App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044, *rev. denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1013 (2011) (Pet. 9-12), where the Court of Appeals reversed a summary judgment for an employer because there was an issue of fact whether an employee with a respiratory sensitivity to mold and other toxins had returned to her worksite after the employer’s remediation efforts and whether she continued

³ Washington looks to federal decisions for guidance in applying the WLAD because it has “the same purpose as [its] federal counterparts.” *MacSuga v. Cty. of Spokane*, 97 Wn. App. 435, 442, 983 P.2d 1167 (1999), *rev. denied*, 140 Wn.2d 1008 (2000).

to suffer symptoms. 160 Wn. App. at 784, ¶ 30. The *Frisino* Court held resolution of this disputed issue was necessary because, unlike other accommodation cases, there was no “objective standard . . . to measure whether an accommodation [of the mold disability] is effective,” and thus the issue could only be resolved by “trial and error.” 160 Wn. App. at 781-82, ¶¶ 21-23.

Here, in contrast to *Frisino*, the issue is not whether an attempted accommodation was in fact effective. Rather, it is whether the University complied with its statutory obligation by offering Hartleben a suite of accommodations while also refusing to waive the uniform rates it charges students for an education. The Court of Appeals’ holding that the University was not required to waive tuition does not merit this Court’s review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that a tuition waiver fundamentally altered the University’s operation.

The WLAD did not require the University to abandon the essential *quid pro quo* of receiving tuition from students in exchange for an education. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed dismissal of Hartleben’s claim because Hartleben’s request

fundamentally altered the nature of the University's services and thus was not required by the WLAD.⁴

An accommodation is unreasonable as a matter of law, and thus not required, if it would fundamentally alter the defendant's business. *Fey v. State*, 174 Wn. App. 435, 452, ¶ 33, 300 P.3d 435 (2013) (WLAD does not require employer to alter the fundamental nature of a job), *rev. denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1029 (2014). “[A]n educational institution is not required to make fundamental or substantial modifications to its program or standards; it need only make reasonable ones.” *Zukle v. Regents of Univ. of California*, 166 F.3d 1041, 1046 (9th Cir. 1999). *See* 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7) (accommodations not required if they “fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity”); 28 C.F.R. § 36.302(a) (same).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that “the University provides classes in exchange for payment of tuition” and thus Hartleben’s request that it “[p]rovid[e] classes without collecting tuition fundamentally alters its business model.” (Op. ¶ 27) The University’s recovery of the cost of a student’s enrollment in classes

⁴ Hartleben’s assertion that the Court of Appeals decision was inconsistent in addressing this issue is without merit. (Pet. 19) The Court of Appeals noted the University was under no obligation to address the fundamental alteration issue because Hartleben failed to make out a prima facie discrimination case, as discussed in § D.1. (Op. ¶ 27)

is essential to its mission of offering students a quality education. (CP 53, 55) If tuition is not directly paid by the student, it is paid from some other source, either scholarships, grants, or financial aid. (CP 53) While the WLAD prohibits surcharging the disabled for providing accommodations, WAC 162-26-070(2), the law, by its terms, allows the University to charge the disabled the same consideration for its services that it charges the non-disabled. RCW 49.60.215(1).⁵

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's decision in *Fell* (Pet. 16-17), which held the WLAD does not require places of public accommodation "to offer *greater* service to disabled people than is available to nondisabled people." 128 Wn.2d at 640 (emphasis in original). See RAP 13.4(b)(1). Though the University must (and did) offer Hartleben reasonable accommodations, neither *Fell* nor the WLAD requires it to offer its services free of charge. 128 Wn.2d at 631 ("The statute was *not* intended to entitle certain protected classes to some unspecified type and unlimited level of services.") (emphasis in original). By allowing an institution

⁵ Hartleben erroneously argues that because she did not seek credit or a grade for the courses, she did not request a change in the University's operation. (Pet. 18) But her demand would have required the University to allow her "to participate in the classes, the discussions, and get feedback by doing homework and taking tests" – all without payment of tuition. (CP 157)

to charge the disabled and non-disabled uniform rates, the Court of Appeals decision does not authorize places of public accommodation to avoid the WLAD by “simply claim[ing] the accommodation . . . is not provided to people without disabilities,” as Hartleben asserts. (Pet. 16)⁶

Hartleben mistakenly relies on federal housing discrimination cases, but none involve the waiver of the basic consideration for a service. (Pet. 13-15) Instead, these cases hold the waiver of incidental fees or policies do not fundamentally alter services because they do not “try[] to avoid payment of the usual rent.” *Giebeler v. M & B Associates*, 343 F.3d 1143, 1159 (9th Cir. 2003) (request to waive no co-signor policy was reasonable accommodation); *Fair Housing of the Dakotas, Inc. v. Goldmark Prop. Mgmt., Inc.*, 778 F. Supp. 2d 1028, 1039 (D.N.D. 2011) (fact issue whether waiver of pet deposit was reasonable); *Bentley v. Peace & Quiet Realty 2 LLC*, 367 F. Supp. 2d 341, 343 (E.D.N.Y. 2005) (fact issue whether swapping apartments in building while maintaining current rent was reasonable); *see also PGA Tour, Inc. v. Martin*, 532 U.S. 661, 689, 121 S. Ct. 1879, 1896, 149 L. Ed. 2d

⁶ As *Fell* makes clear, whether the University would face “hardship” in implementing Hartleben’s request is irrelevant (Pet. 5) because “[f]inancial ability to provide a service is not enough” to establish discrimination. 128 Wn.2d at 631-32.

904 (2001) (where a rule is “peripheral” to the nature of defendants’ activities, it may “be waived in individual cases without working a fundamental alteration”). The Ninth Circuit in *Giebeler* recognized that what Hartleben seeks here – alteration of the University’s usual fee for its services – is an unreasonable accommodation not required by any anti-discrimination statute. 343 F.3d at 1154, 1159 (9th Cir. 2003) (“mandating lower rents for disabled individuals would fail the . . . reasonableness inquiry”).

The Court of Appeals correctly reasoned this case is unlike *Giebeler* for another reason – “Hartleben has not shown a connection between her status as a person with a disability and her status as a person with financial hardship.” (Op. ¶ 24) In *Giebeler* the plaintiff’s disability precluded *all* work. 343 F.3d at 1147. In contrast, Hartleben was able to, and did, work after her memory loss and could have obtained aid to alleviate any financial hardship. (CP 226, 552)⁷

⁷ The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Hartleben’s reliance on *U.S. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett*, 535 U.S. 391, 122 S.Ct. 1516, 152 L.Ed.2d 589 (2002), which held that absent “special circumstances” a request to bypass an established seniority system would be unreasonable. (Pet. 17; Reply Br. 11) No “special circumstances” warranted departing from the University’s uniform policy of requiring payment of tuition from some source in exchange for enrolling in classes, particularly given Hartleben’s failure to seek available financial assistance.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the “University’s waiver of tuition would only address barriers Ms. Hartleben faces due to financial hardship and not those due to her disability.” (See Pet. 13, quoting Op. ¶ 26; alterations omitted) Hartleben’s case is, as the Court of Appeals explained, analogous to *Lipton v. New York Univ. Coll. of Dentistry*, 865 F. Supp. 2d 403, 410 (S.D.N.Y. 2012), *aff’d sub nom. Lipton v. New York Univ. Coll. of Dentistry*, 507 F. App’x 10 (2d Cir. 2013) (Op. ¶ 25), where the federal court rejected a dental student’s requested accommodation of waiving re-matriculation fees, because it had “no bearing on the [reading] disability alleged.” Here, as in *Lipton*, a waiver of tuition has no bearing on Hartleben’s academic success, unlike the other accommodations offered by the University.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that requiring the waiver of the essential *quid pro quo* for the University’s service was a fundamental alteration of the University’s operation and thus not required by the WLAD. Its decision conflicts with no decisions from this Court or the Court of Appeals and raises no issue of substantial public concern. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

3. The WLAD requires prospective accommodation of disabilities. It is not disability insurance meant to shift financial loss caused by disabilities.

The purpose of the WLAD is to fight discrimination, not to insure against disabilities. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Hartleben’s unprecedented expansion of the WLAD to shift financial responsibility for her memory loss to the University under the guise of an “accommodation.”

The WLAD requires covered entities to provide reasonable accommodations that *prospectively* prevent discrimination, not to retroactively address the consequences of a new disability. WAC 162-26-060(2) (“The law protects against discrimination because of the ‘presence’ of a disability.”) (emphasis added); *see also Office of Senate Sergeant at Arms v. Office of Senate Fair Employment Practices*, 95 F.3d 1102, 1107 (Fed. Cir. 1996) (duty to accommodate under ADA is “prospective from the time [the covered entity] gained knowledge of the disability”). Prospective accommodation achieves the WLAD’s core purpose of “remov[ing] barriers to *equal opportunity* in our society.” *Fell*, 128 Wn.2d at 631 (emphasis in original); *see also Negron v. Snoqualmie Valley Hosp.*, 86 Wn. App. 579, 586, 936 P.2d 55 (1997) (“A reasonable accommodation . . . is one that allows a comparable opportunity”) (Pet. 17).

Examples of prospective accommodations include providing closed captioning for deaf customers, or interpreters for hospital patients. *Washington State Comm'n Access Project v. Regal Cinemas, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 174, 293 P.3d 413, *rev. denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013); *Negron*, 86 Wn. App. at 586.

Hartleben received an equal opportunity to enjoy the University's services when she enrolled in and completed five classes, but due to circumstances entirely outside the University's control did not retain what she learned. Hartleben does not allege the University failed to accommodate a then existing disability at the time she actually took the five classes. Properly framed, Hartleben's request is not for prospective accommodation of a current disability – it is for the re-provision of services free of charge because a new disability undermined the value of services that had already been provided.

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